TOWER HAMLETS HEALTH
AND WELLBEING BOARD
Tuesday, 2 February 2021 at 5.00 p.m. Online 'Virtual' Meeting https://towerhamlets.public-i.tv/core/portal/home
This meeting is open to the public to view.
Members:
Chair:

Councillor Rachel Blake

Vice-Chair:

Dr Sam Everington

Councillor Danny Hassell
Councillor Sirajul Islam
Councillor Candida Ronald
Councillor Denise Jones
Denise Radley
Steve Collins
Dr Somen Banerjee
Randal Smith
Asmat Hussain
Christabel Shawcross
Councillor Gabriela Salva Macallan
Councillor Andrew Wood
Co-opted Members
Chris Banks
Dr Ian Basnett
Peter Okali
Paul Gilluley
Jackie Sullivan
Vivian Akinremi
Marcus Barnett
Richard Tapp

Representing
(Deputy Mayor and Cabinet Member for Adults,
Health and Wellbeing)
Chair, Tower Hamlets Clinical Commissioning
Group
Cabinet Members for Children’s Services
Cabinet Member for Housing Management &
Performance
Cabinet Member for Resources and the Voluntary
Sector
Mayor's Advisor for Older People
Corporate Director Health, Adults and Community
WEL CCG’s – Tower Hamlets, Waltham Forest
and Newham CCG’s
Director of Public Health, LBTH
Healthwatch Tower Hamlets
Corporate Director, Governance and Monitoring
Officer
Safeguarding Adults Board Chair LBTH
Chair of Health & Adults Scrutiny Committee
(Independent Member of the Conservative
Group)
Chief Executive, Tower Hamlets GP Care Group
CIC
Public Health Director, Barts Health NHS Trust
CEO of Tower Hamlets Council for Voluntary
Service (THCVS)
Chief Medical Officer
Chief Executive Officer Royal London & Mile End
Hospitals
Deputy Young Mayor and Cabinet Member for
Health and Wellbeing
Detective Chief Superintendent - BCU
Commander
Borough Commander - London Fire Brigade

Page 1

The quorum of the Board is a quarter of the membership including at least one Elected Member
of the Council and one representative from the NHS Tower Hamlets Clinical Commissioning
Group.
Questions
Before the formal business of the Board is considered, up to 15 minutes are available for public
questions on any items of business on the agenda. Please send questions to the Officer below by
5pm the day before the meeting.
Contact for further enquiries:
David Knight david.knight@towerhamlets.gov.uk
1st Floor, Mulberry Place, Town Hall, 5 Clove Crescent, E14 2BG
E: mail: committee.services@towerhamlets.gov.uk
Web: http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee

Scan this code
for the electronic
agenda

Role of the Tower Hamlets Health and Wellbeing Board.








To encourage integrated working between persons who arrange for the provision of any
health or social services in Tower Hamlets for the advancement of the health and wellbeing
of the people in Tower Hamlets.
To identify needs and priorities across Tower Hamlets and publish and refresh the Tower
Hamlets Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) so that future commissioning/policy
decisions are based on evidence.
To prepare the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.
To be involved in the development of any Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)
Commissioning Plan that applies to Tower Hamlets and to give its opinion to the CCG on any
such proposed plan.
To communicate and engage with local people on how they could achieve the best possible
quality of life and be supported to exercise choice and control over their personal health and
wellbeing. This will involve working with Local Healthwatch to make sure there’s a continuous
dialogue with the public to ensure services are meeting need.
To carry out new functions as requested by the Secretary of State and as advised in
guidance issued from time to time.
Public Information

Electronic agendas reports and minutes.
Copies of agendas, reports and minutes for council meetings can also be
found on our website from day of publication.
To access this, click www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee and search for
the relevant committee and meeting date.
Agendas are available on the Mod.Gov, iPad and Android apps.

Page 2

QR code for
smart phone
users.

PAGE
NUMBER(S)
1.

STANDING ITEMS OF BUSINESS

1 .1

Welcome, Introductions and Apologies for Absence
To receive apologies for absence and subsequently the Chair to welcome
those present to the meeting and request introductions.

1 .2

Declarations of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests

5-6

To note any declarations of interest made by members of the Board. (See
attached note of Monitoring Officer).
1 .3

Minutes of the Previous Meeting and Matters Arising

7 - 18

To confirm as a correct record the previous minutes of the meeting of the
Tower Hamlets Health and Wellbeing Board. Also to consider matters
arising.
1 .4

Chair and Vice Chair Update
ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION

2.

HEALTH AND WELLBEING STORY - THE IMPACTS OF
DIGITAL EXCLUSION

19 - 24

The Board will receive a verbal presentation about the impact of ‘digital
service delivery on service users’.
3.

TOWER HAMLETS RESPONSE TO COVID 19

3 .1

Covid-19 - latest news'

25 - 32

The Board will receive an update on Covid-19.
3 .2

Local Authority Covid-19 Vaccination Programme

33 - 42

The Board will be provided on how the vaccination programme is
administering vaccines to residents, NHS and social care staff of Tower
Hamlets.
4.

TOWER HAMLETS HEALTH & WELLBEING STRATEGY
2020-25: UPDATE AND AGREEMENT ON DRAFT
PROPOSALS

43 - 50

The Board will have opportunity to consider progress to date and consider
next steps.
5.

51 - 66

SEND IMPROVEMENT PLAN
The Tower Hamlets SEND Improvement Plan sets out the programme of

Page 3

improvement work for the council and partners in relation to SEND, and
SEND related, services. It identifies priorities, actions to be taken, lines of
responsibility and timescales for delivery. The plan includes the detail of
how the Tower Hamlets SEND Strategy 2020 – 2024 will be delivered.
6.

ANY OTHER BUSINESS
To consider any other business the Chair considers to be urgent.

Date of Next Meeting:
Tuesday, 6 April 2021 at 5.00 p.m. in Online 'Virtual' Meeting - https://towerhamlets.publici.tv/core/portal/home

Page 4

Agenda Item 1.2
DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS AT MEETINGS– NOTE FROM THE
MONITORING OFFICER
This note is for guidance only. For further details please consult the Code of Conduct for
Members at Part C, Section 31 of the Council’s Constitution

(i) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI)
You have a DPI in any item of business on the agenda where it relates to the categories listed in
Appendix A to this guidance. Please note that a DPI includes: (i) Your own relevant interests;
(ii)Those of your spouse or civil partner; (iii) A person with whom the Member is living as
husband/wife/civil partners. Other individuals, e.g. Children, siblings and flatmates do not need to
be considered. Failure to disclose or register a DPI (within 28 days) is a criminal offence.
Members with a DPI, (unless granted a dispensation) must not seek to improperly influence the
decision, must declare the nature of the interest and leave the meeting room (including the public
gallery) during the consideration and decision on the item – unless exercising their right to address
the Committee.
DPI Dispensations and Sensitive Interests. In certain circumstances, Members may make a
request to the Monitoring Officer for a dispensation or for an interest to be treated as sensitive.

(ii) Non - DPI Interests that the Council has decided should be registered –
(Non - DPIs)
You will have ‘Non DPI Interest’ in any item on the agenda, where it relates to (i) the offer of gifts
or hospitality, (with an estimated value of at least £25) (ii) Council Appointments or nominations to
bodies (iii) Membership of any body exercising a function of a public nature, a charitable purpose
or aimed at influencing public opinion.
Members must declare the nature of the interest, but may stay in the meeting room and participate
in the consideration of the matter and vote on it unless:
 A reasonable person would think that your interest is so significant that it would be likely to
impair your judgement of the public interest. If so, you must withdraw and take no part
in the consideration or discussion of the matter.

(iii) Declarations of Interests not included in the Register of Members’ Interest.
Occasions may arise where a matter under consideration would, or would be likely to, affect the
wellbeing of you, your family, or close associate(s) more than it would anyone else living in
the local area but which is not required to be included in the Register of Members’ Interests. In
such matters, Members must consider the information set out in paragraph (ii) above regarding
Non DPI - interests and apply the test, set out in this paragraph.
Guidance on Predetermination and Bias
Member’s attention is drawn to the guidance on predetermination and bias, particularly the need to
consider the merits of the case with an open mind, as set out in the Planning and Licensing Codes
of Conduct, (Part C, Section 34 and 35 of the Constitution). For further advice on the possibility of
bias or predetermination, you are advised to seek advice prior to the meeting.
Section 106 of the Local Government Finance Act, 1992 - Declarations which restrict
Members in Council Tax arrears, for at least a two months from voting
In such circumstances the member may not vote on any reports and motions with respect to the
matter.

Page 5

Further Advice contact: Janet Fasan, Divisional Director Legal, Governance and Monitoring
Officer, Tel: 020 7364 4348.
APPENDIX A: Definition of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest
(Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012, Reg 2 and Schedule)
Subject
Employment, office, trade,
profession or vacation

Prescribed description
Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation
carried on for profit or gain.

Sponsorship

Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit
(other than from the relevant authority) made or provided
within the relevant period in respect of any expenses
incurred by the Member in carrying out duties as a member,
or towards the election expenses of the Member.
This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.

Contracts

Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or
a body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest)
and the relevant authority—
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or
works are to be executed; and
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land

Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the
relevant authority.

Licences

Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in
the area of the relevant authority for a month or longer.

Corporate tenancies

Any tenancy where (to the Member’s knowledge)—
(a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and
(b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a
beneficial interest.

Securities

Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where—
(a) that body (to the Member’s knowledge) has a place of
business or land in the area of the relevant authority; and
(b) either—
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000
or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that
body; or
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class,
the total nominal value of the shares of any one class in
which the relevant person has a beneficial interest exceeds
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class.

Page 6

Agenda Item 1.3
TOWER HAMLETS HEALTH AND WELLBEING
BOARD, 17/11/2020

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS
MINUTES OF THE TOWER HAMLETS HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
HELD AT 5.00 P.M. ON TUESDAY, 17 NOVEMBER 2020
ONLINE 'VIRTUAL' MEETING - HTTPS://TOWERHAMLETS.PUBLICI.TV/CORE/PORTAL/HOME
Members Present:
Councillor Rachel Blake (Chair)

–

Dr Sam Everington (Vice-Chair)

–

Dr Somen Banerjee (Member)
Steve Collins (Member)
Councillor Danny Hassell (Member)

–
–
–

Councillor Sirajul Islam (Member)

–

Councillor Denise Jones (Member)
Denise Radley (Member)

–
–

Councillor Candida Ronald (Member)

–

Christabel Shawcross (Stakeholder)

–

Councillor Gabriela Salva Macallan
Randal Smith (Member)
James Thomas (Member)

–
–
–

Councillor Andrew Wood

–

(Deputy Mayor and Cabinet Member
for Adults, Health and Wellbeing)
(Chair Tower Hamlets Clinical
Commissioning Group)
(Director of Public Health)
Executive Director of Finance
(Cabinet Member for Children and
Schools)
(Statutory Deputy Mayor and Cabinet
Member for Housing)
Older People's Champion
(Corporate Director, Health, Adults &
Community)
(Cabinet Member for Resources and
the Voluntary Sector)
(Safeguarding Adults Board Chair
LBTH)
(Stakeholder)
Healthwatch Tower Hamlets
(Corporate Director, Children and
Culture)
(Stakeholder)

Co-opted Members Present:

Vicky Clark

–

Chris Banks

–

Dr Ian Basnett

–

Peter Okali

–

Paul Gilluley
Jackie Sullivan

–
–

Helen Wilson

–

(Divisional Director for Growth and
Economic Development)
Chief Executive, Tower Hamlets GP
Care Group CIC
Public Health Director, Barts Health
NHS Trust
Tower Hamlets Council for Voluntary
Service
East London Foundation Trust
Managing Director of Royal London
Site, Barts Health
Clarion Housing/THHF representative to HWBB

Page 7

1

TOWER HAMLETS HEALTH AND WELLBEING
BOARD, 17/11/2020
Vivian Akinremi

–

Richard Tapp

–

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

Deputy Young Mayor Lead for Health
& Wellbeing
Borough Commander - London Fire
Brigade

Apologies:
Asmat Hussain

–

Marcus Barnett

–

(Corporate Director, Governance and
Monitoring Officer)
Detective Chief Superintendent - BCU
Commander

Other in Attendance:
Seema Chote

–

Aisling Heading
Keith Makin

–
–

Warwick Tomsett

–

Jamal Uddin
David Knight

–
–

(Team Manager, Statutory and
Advocacy Team)
Resident
Independent Scrutineer, Tower.
Hamlets Safeguarding Children
Partnership
Joint Director, Integrated
Commissioning
Strategy Policy & Performance Officer
(Democratic Services Officer,
Committees, Governance)

1.

STANDING ITEMS OF BUSINESS

1.1

Welcome, Introductions and Apologies for Absence
The Chair Councillor Rachel Blake (Deputy Mayor and Cabinet Member for
Adults, Health and Wellbeing) welcomed everybody to the meeting.

1.2

Declarations of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
There were no declarations of disclosable pecuniary interest were received at
the meeting.

1.3

Minutes of the Previous Meeting and Matters Arising
The Chair Moved and it was: RESOLVED
The unrestricted minutes of the last meeting were confirmed as a correct
record and the Chair was authorised to sign them accordingly.

Page 8

2

TOWER HAMLETS HEALTH AND WELLBEING
BOARD, 17/11/2020
1.4

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

Chair and vice chair update
Dr Sam Everington (Vice-Chair) provided the Board with the following:
The Board noted that:


The vote of the Borough’s GP members practices and on the back of a
declaration of some noticeably clear principles has seen move towards
the merger of the 7 Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) and the
enhancement of the local offer by providing good value for the local
population; and



Tower Hamlets is in the midst of planning Covid vaccination and the
message to all is to encourage people to come forward and have the
vaccine. All the evidence provided about the vaccine indicates an
extremely high chance success and it is important to get this message
across to save lives and get everyone's lives back to normal.

Councillor Rachel Blake (Chair) provide the Board with the following:
The Board noted that:

2.



collectively has won an award from the Local government Chronicle for
its work on asthma and how it is helping children to overcome and
manage their asthma. The Boards work has demonstrated just how
damaging asthma can be you can experience it severely or not
severely, but it can really hold you back and the partnership working on
Tower Hamlets is something that every Board Member can be proud of
and role model for others to follow; and



The Council has received funding to tackle holiday hunger that through
the Christmas and February half term and the theme of child poverty
and mental health will come through in some of the topics the Board is
considering tonight as it is a key piece of work.

HWB STORY ON HOMELESSNESS IN TOWER HAMLETS
The Chair introduced this item that provided an insight into the Borough’s
health and wellbeing story regarding those who are struggling with
homelessness, children’s education, and their own health. The Chair then
welcomed Seema Chotye (Team Manager, Statutory and Advocacy Team)
and Aisling Heading (Guest Speaker). The main points arising from the
discussion on this item may be summarised as follows:
The Board noted:


The prompt action by the Tower Hamlets Intervention and Housing
Services had, had a massive positive impact on Aisling’s family’s
health and well-being.

Page 9

3

TOWER HAMLETS HEALTH AND WELLBEING
BOARD, 17/11/2020












SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

That the Services had given the family 110% support encouraging and
motivating them, they had been also been put in touch any other
agencies/services that could support the family. However, Aisling
stressed to the importance of being willing to act upon the advice and
where possible taking the initiative.
That the family had been supported by the National Autistic Society
who had assisted Aisling getting a designation of a “Key Worker” and
was working on obtaining a for grant for Aislings daughter to support
the family.
That the recovery of the service post Covid-19 has provided the
opportunity: (i) for a different customer experience; (ii) to achieve a
higher rate of prevention; and (iii) reduce temporary accommodation
placements and associated costs.
That those seeking help should as mentioned earlier be able to
understand the help on offer and access such help through a range of
channels, including to self-help, whether on the web or over the phone
or from alternative service settings.
That the presentation was a positive example of collaborative working
between Housing; Adult; and Children's services and how they can
understand how to work together for the benefit of the communities that
the Council and its partners seek to serve; and
That the physical mental health of families is so interconnected with
their environment.

In conclusion, the Chair thanked Seema Chotye and Aisling Heading for their
presentation and contribution to the discussions on this issue.
The Chair then Moved, and it was:
RESOLVED that it wanted an update at a future meeting.
3.

TOWER HAMLETS RESPONSE TO COVID 19

3.1

Covid-19 - latest news'
The Committee received an update from Somen Banerjee – Director of Public
Health regarding the latest news in respect of Covid-19. The main points of
the discussion maybe summarised as follows:
The Board noted that:




The Borough has three local test sites, Watney Market Ideas Store in
Shadwell; one in the Arts Pavilion; and Jack Dash House on the Isle of
Dogs.
Tower Hamlets is to be part of a pilot to deploy new mass testing
Working with the police identifying areas where those issues around
social distancing and responding so that places like markets; parks;
and some faith settings in ensure Tower Hamlets was addressing

Page 10

4

TOWER HAMLETS HEALTH AND WELLBEING
BOARD, 17/11/2020





SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

those issues that may arise with a focus on particular settings e.g. care
homes.
There are weekly webinars with residents to talk through the key
messages and to hear what the what issues residents are facing.
The Borough has commissioned engagement work with specific groups
of people through Bangladeshi, Somali and disabled people’s
organisations; and
It is important to recognise that the levels of covid-19 in people learning
disabilities has been six times as high as rest of the population
nationally, so it is important to work with that community.

In conclusion, the Chair thanked Somen Banerjee for his update.
The Chair then Moved, and it was RESOLVED to note the update.
3.2

Local Authority Covid-19 Test and Trace Support Grant
The Committee received a report from Somen Banerjee – Director of Public Health
regarding Local Authority Covid-19 Test and Trace Support Grant. The main points
of the discussion are summarised as follows:
The Board noted that:












The Council had been informed by letter on 11th of June, 2020 of allocation
for the Local Authority Test and Trace Service Support Grant. Tower Hamlets
had been allocated £3.2m and this report sets out current plans for its use to
prevent and limit spread of COVID-19 in the Borough.
The purpose of the grant is ‘to provide support to local authorities in England
towards expenditure lawfully incurred or to be incurred in relation to the
mitigation against and management of local outbreaks of COVID-19’;
The Borough has implemented a local test and trace programme which
has been commissioned from general practice.
The other real priority is the clinically extremely vulnerable since going
to lock down the advice to then has changed so they were previously
advised they could go to work with precautions but now the advice if
they do not go to work. Therefore, it is important to be clear about what
the advice is going to be for them.
Tower Hamlets had amongst the lowest levels of testing in London, so
it was an important priority that local testing sites are developed.
Testing sites need to be in those areas where there were lower levels
of testing e.g. Shadwell was identified as such a location.
There are limitations on the places that can be used as local testing
sites as they need to meet certain criterion and the Ideas Store in
Shadwell was one of those places which has met the criterion of the
Department of Health.
In other places they had been difficulties around queueing therefore
there is an exceptionally good queue management but also that people
could only attend the site if they had booked a test.

Page 11

5

TOWER HAMLETS HEALTH AND WELLBEING
BOARD, 17/11/2020



SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

When you book a test, you are given very clear advice about how you
protect yourself and how you protect others e.g. wearing face
coverings.
There has been an issue around access by families to their relatives in
care homes and the mental health impact that is having not just on the
families but their elderly relatives as well. Accordingly, there has been
a pilot in which they are using a rapid testing to enable visitors to see
their loved ones.

In conclusion, the Chair thanked Somen Banerjee for his presentation.
The Chair then Moved, and it was RESOLVED to note:
1. The current use of the Grant; and
2. The Equalities Impact Assessment.
4.

TOWER HAMLETS HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY 2020-25 UPDATE, PRIORITIES AND NEXT STEPS
The Board received an update on progress to date in developing the Health
and Wellbeing Strategy, the remit of the Strategy and emerging priorities, as
well as next steps and a timeline for finalising the Strategy.
As a result of discussions on the presentation the Board discussed the
emerging priorities, and these are summarised as follows that:









Whilst the partnership does not have all the levers in respect of poverty
as it is such an underlying driver of inequality and poor health
outcomes
As an issue across all age groups consideration should be given to
mental health and emotional wellbeing.
Healthy activity and life expectancy should be a priority as it has been
shown that physical activity ties into many of the other issues including
that of mental health; healthy weight; general health and social
isolation. Whilst the Council could take the role of a strategic lead it
would be a priority that would include many partners including those in
the private sector;
The importance of social isolation and the impact on mental health
needs consideration.
The Board needs to ensure that all individuals and communities,
including the most disadvantaged, have access to and use of
Information and Communication Technologies (ICTs).
The ability to influence access to high quality on time health and social
care; and
As delivery organisations Board Members need to look at how they
deliver services to make change happen e.g. what projects and
interventions will be needed to set up or enhanced to make those
changes happen.

Page 12

6

TOWER HAMLETS HEALTH AND WELLBEING
BOARD, 17/11/2020

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

Recommendations:
The Health & Wellbeing Board:
1. Noted the update provided on progress made in developing the
Health & Wellbeing Strategy.
2. Noted each of the themes will be looked at in January 2021 at a
workshop to really get into the details and then at the Health and
Wellbeing Board in February there will be draft for consultation for
consultation throughout the spring and should any Board Member
want to add anything there is always space to bring forward more
thoughts at the workshop.
5.

TOWER HAMLETS SAFEGUARDING ANNUAL REPORTS 2019-20

5.1

Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019-20
The Board received a presentation from Christabel Shawcross (Safeguarding
Adults Board Chair) on the Safeguarding Annual Report 2019-20 that set out
the progress, achievements and learning over the previous year. A summary
of the discussion is set out below:
The Board noted that:










Last year we had about 1115 concerns raised and that is a key statistic
because looking back in 2016 we only had 720 concerns raised and it
is important that awareness is raised by people to report abuse as it is
felt that there is still under reporting particularly around domestic
abuse.
There are more concerns about those from the White population and
we need to continue to focus on community engagement to raise
awareness e.g. where people can go to get advice and support.
Self-neglect is becoming a growing area of concern
It is about working with the person and promoting their independence
but equally looking at what the person wants to achieve
There whilst were 6 Safeguarding Adult reviews reported and
published last year that does not to mean that there were six incidents
last year. These go back several years but there are key issues to be
identified from them and brought through to multi-agency learning this
year particularly around working in a more systematic way to help
those who lead chaotic lives.
It is important to raise awareness among professionals to share
expertise and advice on how to go forward.
Since the start of the pandemic health and social care has (i) had a
focus on safeguarding because clearly safeguarding people being
isolated is a key issue; (ii) ensured that people with learning disabilities

Page 13

7

TOWER HAMLETS HEALTH AND WELLBEING
BOARD, 17/11/2020




SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

have support; and (iii) made sure people continue to get their advice
from the health service.
Safeguarding Adults Board has a 5-year strategy that will run alongside
that of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy; and
Going forward one of the key areas will be around developing links with
the Children's Partnership e.g. looking at those issues for adolescents
coming forward into adulthood.

In conclusion, the Chair thanked Christabel Shawcross for her presentation.
The Chair then Moved, and it was RESOLVED to note Safeguarding Annual
Report 2019-20.
5.2

Safeguarding Children Partnership Annual Report 2019-20
The Board received a presentation from James Thomas (Corporate Director
for Children and Culture - LBTH) on the Safeguarding Children’s Partnership
Annual Report 2019-20 that describe a year of transition into the new
safeguarding arrangements for children following a change in the law and the
statutory guidance. A summary of the discussion is set out below:
The Board noted that:











The first of the key changes was that leadership of the Safeguarding
Children's Partnership is now a shared by three of the statutory
partners and namely the Council; Metropolitan Police Service (MPS);
and the Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs).
The second key change was the requirements are for an Independent
Scrutineer who provides experienced support and challenge to the
partners and is involved in many aspects of the work to ensure the
partnership is working in the best way to deliver better outcomes for
children and young people in Tower Hamlets.
The third key change is that the Partnership will continue to manage
risk for children and young people in the Borough primarily through a
supportive response. Also whilst statutory reviews will be undertaken it
will be in a new and different way, scrutinise policy and procedures of
partners, set priorities for the partners where the partnership will work
collectively to improve areas across safeguarding, provide multiagency training and guidance and be a platform for partnership.
The Partnership will continue to manage risk for children and young
people in the Borough primarily through a supportive response.
Benchmarking shows relatively low rates of children in care or subject
to protection plans and there has been a particular focus in the past
year on (i) education safeguarding; (ii) joint domestic abuse training;
and (iii) the standing priority around an exploitation with sexual and
criminal exploitation of young people.
The Partnership will build on those foundations and bring more rigour
to its work with a particular focus on the use of data from all partners.
Also, more use of quality assurance findings from multi-agency audits

Page 14

8

TOWER HAMLETS HEALTH AND WELLBEING
BOARD, 17/11/2020





SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

and learning reviews and more rigour in the use of the voices of
children young people.
The Partnership is currently setting priorities going forwards and that,
that work is going well in engaging all partners as well as the views of
young people and their families.
The 2020-21 Annual Report will be clearer in its analysis about (i) what
the Partnership are doing well; (ii) where there are areas to be
developed; and (iii) clearer about the evidence of the impact; and
The action planning that has gone on in the Partnership demonstrates
(i) a commitment to partnership working in the fullest sense of the
word; and (ii) an ambition to make it make a real change.

In conclusion, the Chair:



6.

Thanked James Thomas for his presentation; and
Then Moved and it was RESOLVED to note Safeguarding Children’s
Partnership Annual Report 2019-20.

TOWER HAMLETS TOGETHER REPORT
The Board received a presentation from Amy Whitelock-Gibbs (Chair of the
Tower Hamlets Together Partnership on the Annual Report. A summary of the
discussion is set out below:
A summary of the discussion is set out below:
The Board noted that:










Tower Hamlets Together is really a core partnership group across the
Council, the Clinical Commissioning Group; the voluntary sector, the
Mental Health Trust; The Royal London Hospital; and the Borough’s
Primary Care Networks.
The response to the pandemic by the Partnership was rapid and an
impressive demonstration of effective partnership working a testament
to everyone involved.
The Partnership saw real change driven by the front-line staff and
barriers to integrated care were unlocked within a matter of days and
weeks e.g. issues around on financing; staffing; data sharing and
information sharing.
In the light of those lessons the Partnership has revised its governance
arrangements with an executive group to focus on strategic priorities
and a broader operational group which owns the winter plan for both
health and social care keeping inclusion and the users’ voice at the
heart of all the work in the partnership.
The Partnership had funded some digital inclusion work a coproduction product to test different ways of working within partnership
with the voluntary sector and service users.
The Partnership is reviewing the priorities that need to ensure are
being delivered over the winter partly because they are winter priorities

Page 15

9

TOWER HAMLETS HEALTH AND WELLBEING
BOARD, 17/11/2020



SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

but also as the Borough is in the middle of the pandemic. Especially
making sure the management of demand on services (e.g. social care;
hospital services; care homes; and end of life care). Whilst in the
medium and longer term will look at how services need to be resigned.
Operational senior operational staff have expressed a real concern
about not losing some of the benefits of the response to the pandemic
as mentioned earlier such organised coordination of patient care and
address the practical barriers. As the Borough has epidemics of noninfectious diseases e.g. cardiovascular disease; diabetes and cancer
as for many people this will have far more far-reaching impacts on
people's health. Much can be learned about how the partnership can
work together a core lesson from the management of the response to
pandemic.

In conclusion, the Chair thanked Amy Whitelock-Gibbs for her presentation.
The Chair then Moved, and it was RESOLVED to note Report.
7.

SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS AND DISABILITY (SEND) INSPECTION
UPDATE
The Board received a presentation from James Thomas (Corporate Director
for Children and Culture - LBTH) providing an update on the forthcoming
SEND Inspection. A summary of the discussion is set out below:
The Board noted that:










Too many families struggle to get the services that they need in a
timely way.
There have been delays in completing assessments for Education
Health and Care plans which although primarily a Council responsibility
depends on contributions from partners to complete those
assessments.
There are issues with exceptionally long waiting times for Autism
Spectrum Diagnosis (ASD) diagnosis that primarily is a Health Service
responsibility.
The Council is working with its colleagues together to develop
innovative new models of delivery e.g. virtual online platforms.
An increasing number of referrals into the ASD pathway which means
that this is always going to be an oversubscribed service and requires
an investment of time and money.
The is a need to develop Multidisciplinary teams (MDTs) to enable
practitioners and other professionals in health and social care to
collaborate successfully. As MDTs can be effective in meeting the
needs of some groups e.g. elderly terminal care and those with
complex care needs.
The Health and Well Being Board can help to assist these
developments by holding the to hold Corporate Director for Children

Page 16

10

TOWER HAMLETS HEALTH AND WELLBEING
BOARD, 17/11/2020



SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

and Culture and those partner agencies to account until it is confident
that some of the areas of concern have been addressed
Whilst the Council and its partners are operational under financial
constraints it needs to be recognised that effective solutions are not
always about additional money it is also about time; prioritisation; multidisciplinary working to develop an innovated and fully integrated
response to meet the needs of those that they seek to serve.

In conclusion, the Chair:



8.

Thanked James Thomas for his presentation and the contribution of
Board Members to the discussion on this item.; and
Moved and it was RESOLVED to note the update on the forthcoming
SEND Inspection.

ANY OTHER BUSINESS
In conclusion the Chair thanked everybody who has contributed this evening
debate which has provided incredibly positive guidance on the next steps in
the development of integrated services; partnership working and
pooled budget arrangements.
Finally, it was noted that a Covid Champions webinar was due to start, and all
Board Members were encouraged to become champions themselves and
encourage their staff and service users to become Champions.

The meeting ended at 7.15 p.m.

Chair, Councillor Rachel Blake
Tower Hamlets Health and Wellbeing Board

Page 17

11

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 2
Non-Executive Report of the:
Health and Wellbeing Board
Tuesday 2 February 2021
Report of: Cllr Rachel Blake, chair of Tower Hamlets
Health and Wellbeing Board

Classification:
Unrestricted

Health and Wellbeing Story – the impacts of digital exclusion
Originating Officer(s)
Wards affected

Alison Robert
Dianne Barham
All wards

Executive Summary
To understand how the move to digital service delivery is impacting on users, a
number of residents who have a sensory impairment will talk about their own
experiences including access to devices, access to the internet or data and their
skills in using devices.
Tower Hamlets Community and Voluntary Sector (CVS) have been delivering a
digital project commissioned by Tower Hamlets Together (THT) covering community
insights, training, access to devices and personalisation.
This presentation is tabled for the meeting and will provide update on the key
findings to date.
Recommendations:
The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to:
1. Note the presentation and discuss findings and any learning across the
partnership.

Page 19

1.

REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS

1.1

‘Health and Wellbeing story’ is a standing item which will provide insight into
different issues in the community from the perspective of service users and
front-line providers.

1.2

Each meeting will have a different story to tell highlighting different priorities of
the health and wellbeing board.

2.

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS

2.1

Not applicable.

3.

DETAILS OF THE REPORT

3.1

A presentation will be tabled for the meeting.

4.

EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

4.1

To follow in a later phase of the project.
__________________________________

Linked Reports, Appendices and Background Documents
Linked Report
 None
Appendices
 Appendix 1 - Summary digital insights on page
Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended)
List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report
List any background documents not already in the public domain including officer
contact information.
 None.

Page 20

Digital inclusion
In December 2019, we asked 240 local
people if they would consider using
online tools to access NHS services.

67%

People most likely to use online GP services
In work
Middle class
Aged under 50
Parents

Some of the most vulnerable
Tower Hamlets residents may be
at higher risk of digital exclusion.

would consider using an NHS
app to access NHS services.

56%

59%

56%

would have
an online
consultation
with a GP

would access
their test
results
online

would look
up their
symptms
online

Page 21

In March-June 2020, we asked 354 local people
whether they had accessed NHS services online

5%

filled in an E-consult form to receive
a call back from their GP

3%

had an online consultation with a GP
or practice nurse

7%
13%

communicated with another medical
professional online

Patients who used e-consult or other forms
of online consultations in their GP surgeries
found it easy and efficient.
Medicine reviews and other less complex
appointments can often be done by
telephone or online with the same results as
in person.
Online or telephone appointments are less
likely to be suitable for patients with
complex needs or those with new,
unexplained symptoms.

looked up their symptoms online
elsewhere

10%

ordered a repeat prescription online

THT
Programme

Skills building
Collaboration on training programmes to
create a toolkit of
resources for organisations.
Training sessions for volunteers and staff.
Community training sessions in VCS setting

38%
of November 2019
conversation participants

14%
of 2020 Covid-19
survey respondents

were digitally excluded
(had no internet access, no devices to access the internet on or
no IT literacy)

More likely to be of Black ethnicities.
More likely to be older.

More likely to be in poor health or disabled.
Less likely to be working or financially secure.

used the NHS 111 online website

20%

Who is excluded?

The Covid-19 pandemic may increase health
inequalities around digital inclusion:
Closures of libraries/ community centres impact on
access to devices for those who do not have them at
home.

Access to devices
Project in a hostel to pilot access to devices
VCS organisations linked to GPs practices
Personalisation
Personal Health
budgets to access WIFI and devices

Those who depend on friends/ family members for help
with using onlie services may not be able to receive
home visits.
As more services move online, those who far various
reasons cannot use the internet may struggle to access
them.
Language, literacy and confidence bariers may be
experienced even by people with some knowledge of
using the internet.

This page is intentionally left blank

THT Digital Inclusion project….

Page 23

4 Themes
Insights
Training
Access to devices
Personalisation

8 Projects
• Insights
- Identifying community needs through
voluntary sector organisations.
- Phone calls to people with disabilities
through disparities work
• Training
- Collaboration on training programmes to
create a toolkit of resources for
organisations.
- Training sessions for volunteers and staff.
- Community training sessions in VCS setting
• Access to devices
- Project in a hostel to pilot access to devices
- VCS organisations linked to GPs practices
• Personalisation
- Personal Health budgets to access WIFI
and devices

Learning so far ……

Page 24

A system wide communication about different initiatives to
offer support:
- share learning and good practice and reduce duplication
- Work with commissioners to ensure contracts enable
access for residents through funds for data
- Work with anchor organisations to identify waste
management contracts and how IT can be repurposed
and distributed.

Health and Wellbeing Board
2nd February, 2021

Agenda Item 3.1

Page 25

Tower Hamlets
COVID-19 update

Since last Health and Wellbeing Board
National
1st vaccine clinic in Tower
Hamlets

London moved into tier 2 as
lockdown ends

Page 26

8th Dec

London moved into tier 4
(no Xmas bubbles)

17 Dec.
16th Dec

2 Dec.

1st person vaccinated in UK

London moved into tier 3
(case rates > 200/100.00)

Schools not to reopen until
8th March at least

4 Jan.
19 Dec.

27 Jan.

National lockdown (local
case rate ~ 1000/100,000)

Since last Health and Wellbeing Board
Tower Hamlets
NEL CEOs developing
collective response to
rising levels in area

Local Engagement
Board discussion on
disabilities and
loneliness during the
pandemic

Page 27

16th Dec

2nd December
30th Nov

8th December

Surge Mobile Testing
Units introduced in
Tower Hamlets

7-day incidence in
Tower Hamlets
exceeds 1000/100,000

First Rapid Test (LFD)
centre opens in
Ecology Pavillion in
Tower Hamlets

19th January

14 January
3rd January

1st vaccine clinic in
Tower Hamlets opens
in QMUL

Vaccine helpline and
booking support set up
in Council Call Centre
(3030)

19th December

Local Engagement
Board discussion on
vaccination
programme

Health Protection
Board receives
vaccination data on
disparities in uptake of
80+

1st Feb

Tower Hamlets numbers through
epidemic
• 219,848

• Tests conducted in Tower Hamlets residents

• 27,085
Page 28

• Positives identified in Tower Hamlets residents

• 9,630

• LFTs conducted in community testing sites

• 30,750

• Contacts identified by NHS Track and Trace

• 19,809

• Residents receiving at least first dose of vaccine

• 3,299

• 80+ residents receiving at least first dose of vaccine

Current situation
284.5
cases per 100,000
(21st Jan to 26th Jan 2021)

Page 29

The all weekly rate is now
experiencing a decreasing trend and
has fallen by 47% compared to seven
days ago.

924 cases in past
week (half those of
week before)
Highest rates in the
50-59 population and
80+
Highest cases have
been in Bethnal
Green, Stepney,
Shadwell, Poplar and
Bromley by Bow
Ethnicity, deprivation
and social housing
trends persist

Source: PHE Covid-19 Situational Awareness Explorer..

Hospitalisations

Page 30
6

Priorities

Page 31

•Vaccinate
•Test
•Communicate
•Engage, Explain, Encourage, Enforce!

The Vaccination Challenge

Page 32

• 80+
• 75-80
• 70-74
• CEV
• 65+
• 16-64*
• 60-64
• 55-59
• 50-54

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

5,000
3,500
5,000
7,500
6,300
12,000
8,500
11,000
14,000

PLUS
All Health and
Care Workers

* With underlying health conditions

Agenda Item 3.2
Non-Executive Report of the:
Health and Wellbeing Board
Tuesday 2 February 2021
Report of: Chris Banks and Tracy Cannell, Joint Chief
Executive of Tower Hamlets GP Care Group CIC

Classification:
Unrestricted

COVID-19 Vaccination Update in Tower Hamlets

Originating Officer(s)
Wards affected

Chris Banks and Tracy Cannell, Joint Chief Executive
of Tower Hamlets GP Care Group CIC
All wards

Executive Summary
GP Care Group has been given the green light to commence COVID-19 vaccination
in Tower Hamlets from Monday 14 December 2020 of the first wave of the primary
care based COVID vaccination programme.
At the meeting, a verbal update will be provided on how the vaccination programme
is administering vaccines to residents, NHS and social care staff of Tower Hamlets.
The update will cover






Details of the types of vaccinations available in the borough;
Who will have the COVID vaccine first and in what order;
About the vaccination centre in Mile End and new centres;
Experiences of people receiving the vaccine;
Discuss ongoing support from partners and next steps

Recommendations:
The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to:
1. Note the progress made to date in administering vaccines and consider
ongoing support to ensure effective delivery of the vaccination programme

Page 33

1.

REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS

1.1

This is the first update scheduled since the vaccination programme
commenced on Monday 14 December 2020. The board will have the
opportunity to discuss progress to date and ongoing partnership involvement
and consider next steps.

2.

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS

2.1

Not applicable.

3.

DETAILS OF THE REPORT

3.1

A verbal update has been agreed to allow team to focus on the delivery of the
vaccination programme. This also means that the latest information of the
programme can be discussed at the board meeting highlighting the following
areas 





Details of the types of vaccinations available in the borough;
Who will have the COVID vaccine first and in what order;
About the vaccination centre in Mile End and new centres;
Experiences of people receiving the vaccine;
Discuss ongoing support from partners and next steps

Page 34

Page 35

Tower Hamlets Vaccination
Update & Plans
2 February

Current Progress
• Aiming to complete priority groups 1-4 by 14 February
Page 36

•
•
•
•

residents in a care home for older adults and their carers
all those 80 years of age and over and frontline health and social care workers
all those 75 years of age and over
all those 70 years of age and over and clinically extremely vulnerable individuals

Individuals outstanding with over 4000 appointments available via primary care this
• 3362
week (excluding pharmacy and mass vaccination centre)

• Networks leading on housebound patients
• Rate limiting factor is contacting and booking appointments for those remaining
• A small residual number to be picked up in care homes

Vaccination Rates by Borough
COVID-19 Vaccination First Doses - 70+ and Vaccinated
80.0%

70.0%

60.0%

Page 37

50.0%

40.0%

30.0%

20.0%

10.0%

0.0%
16/12/2020

30/12/2020

13/01/2021

NHS TOWER HAMLETS CCG

NHS REDBRIDGE CCG

NHS HAVERING CCG

NHS BARKING AND DAGENHAM CCG

NHS CITY AND HACKNEY CCG

NHS WALTHAM FOREST CCG

NHS NEWHAM CCG

27/01/2021

Vaccines by ethnicity
COVID-19 Vaccination First Doses - 70+ and Vaccinated
80.0%

70.0%

Page 38

60.0%

50.0%

40.0%

30.0%

20.0%

10.0%

0.0%
16/12/2020

30/12/2020
Asian

13/01/2021
Black

Mixed

Other

White

27/01/2021

Vaccine Helpline
• Helpline, 7 days per week, 8am-8pm
• Multilingual staff
Page 39

• Role:
• to answer queries
• contact vaccine hesitant
• book appointments to local clinics and mass vaccination centre
• Starting w/c 1 February
• Funded by LBTH

• Supported with training and resources by GPCG

Vaccination Venues

Page 40

Current
• Local Primary Care
• QMUL
• Newby
• Cable St

• Other
• Lincoln Pharmacy
• Excel
• Barts

Proposed
• Local Primary Care
•
•
•
•
•
•

Mile End Leisure Centre
London Muslim Centre
GP Practices
Pop-up community clinics
Care homes
Housebound visits

• Other

• Lincoln Pharmacy
• Excel
• Barts

Pop-Up Clinics Proposal

Page 41

• Work with local community & faith groups to identify need and
appropriate sites
• Must be appropriate to deliver vaccine (Oxford/AZ)
• Joint delivery to support clinic
• Advertise clinic with dates
• 2 vaccinators per clinic
• Must be booked in advance to ensure vaccine is not wasted
• Comes in vials of 11 doses which must be used within 6 hours
• Vaccine takes up to 5 minutes per person

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4
Non-Executive Report of the:
Health and Wellbeing Board
Tuesday 2 February 2021
Report of: Cllr Rachel Blake, chair of Tower Hamlets
Health and Wellbeing Board

Classification:
Unrestricted

Tower Hamlets Health & Wellbeing Strategy 2020-25: update and agreement on
draft proposals
Originating Officer(s)
Wards affected

Polly Ashmore, Public Health Specialty Registrar
All wards

Executive Summary
A presentation will update the Board on Strategy progress:
- Key messages from two workshops in early January to test principles and
priority areas;
- Draft proposals for the Strategy, including ways of working for the Board;
- Plans for public consultation on the Strategy.

Recommendations:
The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to:
1. Discuss and agree draft proposals for the strategy.
2. Agree the consultation plan and Board member contributions/support for the
consultation process.

Page 43

1.

REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS

1.1

Development of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy has been adapted to
ensure full engagement of the Board at pace, in the context of reduced
timelines due to the Covid-19 pandemic.

1.2

Within this plan, final proposals, ways of working and plans for consultation
will need to be jointly agreed by the board at next meeting on February 2nd
2021.

2.

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS

2.1

The board could not receive a progress update and take part in a discussion
to agree proposals and consultation plans for the Strategy, but this would
undermine the Board’s statutory role in agreeing and driving forward its
Strategy for 2020-25.

3.

DETAILS OF THE REPORT

3.1

A review of key health and wellbeing data, alongside public engagement to
hear residents’ views on key issues, took place in Spring-Summer 2020;

3.2

Following this, interviews with Health and Wellbeing Board members took
place throughout October 2020 to gather their views on the role and remit of
the Board and its Strategy, and what the priorities of that Strategy should be.

3.3

On 17th November the Board agreed priority health areas: the health impacts
of poverty, MH and emotional wellbeing, and healthy diet and exercise.

3.4

Following this, two workshops (January 8th and 11th 2021) brought together
Board members and stakeholders to discuss: the wider determinants that
impact these health priority areas across the life course; the mechanisms to
impact those wider determinants; and what role the Board should play in
driving forward change across both wider determinants and health &
wellbeing support services across the borough in the next five years.

3.5

This meeting will provide an opportunity to update the full Board on the
outcome of those workshops (some Board members were not able to attend
due to urgent Covid-19 priority work), to present final proposals for the
Strategy, and to agree a plan for consulting on these with the public in
February-April 2021.

4.

EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

4.1

The equalities implications of the new strategy are embedded within its
development approach.
____________________________________

Page 44

Linked Reports, Appendices and Background Documents
Linked Report
 NONE – presentation to be brought to the meeting.
Appendices
 NONE
Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended)
List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report
 NONE
Officer contact details for documents:
N/A

Page 45

This page is intentionally left blank

HWBS Consultation
1. Aim:
• To consult on the draft HWBS with key stakeholders (experts, leadership and public)

2. Outputs:
Page 47

• The consultation plan will outline who we will engage, how we will engage them and by
when;
• Obtain feedback from experts, leaders and public on the priorities set out in the HWBS
and insight on how priorities can be delivered with desired impact/outcomes
• Produce final HWBS;
• Public facing outcomes report of consultation (You said, We did)

Questions – what we want to know ?

• The partnership has developed a joint Health and
Wellbeing Strategy 2020-25;
• Focusing on areas of work that will have the
highest impact;
• Its underpinned by strong evidence and
stakeholder engagement;
• Committed to reduction of health inequalities;
• Guide partners to work together;
• We want to hear from as many people and groups
as possible;
• We want to build on work being invested in the
community already;
• Feedback will inform final HWBS and support
delivery plans;
• We will provide feedback to participants;

•

Page 48

Key messages

•

•
•
•
•

Have we identified the right priorities
and issues?
How do you think the HWBB can add
value and bring about positive change?
Where are the examples of what is
already working well in the borough?
How can we learn from and build on
successes in working successfully
together to achieve outcomes?
How will we know if we are successful
and how will we measure that success?
What do you think we will see in Tower
Hamlets, if we are making an impact?

Questions

Format

Partnerships

Does it reflect your aspirations?
How can we measure success?

Attend online network meetings
Online Surveys/Questionnaires

Experts

How do we effectively connect with what is happening
on the ground?
Where can board add value?

Online Interviews
Online Surveys/Questionnaires

Resident groups

How can you help deliver priorities in the strategy?
How will you measure success in the community?

Produce a summary of strategy
Attend TRA and network meetings
Online workshops

Older people

Does it reflect your expectations?
What outcomes do you want to see?

Attend network meetings
Online Surveys/Questionnaires

Children and young
people

Does it reflect your expectations?
What outcomes do you want to see?

Attend network meetings
Online Surveys/Questionnaires

Disabilities

Do you feel this represents your main challenges and
gives you a stronger voice?

Produce an easy read Online Questionnaire/Workshop

Faith groups

How can communities faith drive these priorities?
How can faith messages support our programmes?

Produce an easy read Online Questionnaire/Workshop

Hard to reach groups
(digitally excluded, BME
groups, LGBT)

Which groups do we need to target?
How doe we better inform these groups of what is
happening and how can they get more involved?

Produce an easy read Online Questionnaire/Workshop

Page 49

Groups

Proposed Timetable

Page 50

Action

Deadline

Open consultation

8 Feb – 19 Mar
(6 weeks)

Prepare final HWBS

By 2 Apr 2021

HWBB approval

6 Apr 2021

Public facing document on outcome of
consultation (You said, We did)

16 Apr 2021

Sign off period (CLT, MAB, Cabinet)

Apr - May 2021

How will board members support the consultation?
• What are your networks?
• How best can we engage these groups?
• What else will you do?

Agenda Item 5
Non-Executive Report of the:
Tower Hamlets Health and Wellbeing Board
Tuesday, 2 February 2021
Report of James Thomas, Director, Children and Culture

Classification:
Open (Unrestricted)

SEND Improvement Plan
Originating Officer(s)
Wards affected

Christine McInnes
(All Wards)

Executive Summary
The Tower Hamlets SEND Improvement Plan sets out the programme of
improvement work for the council and partners in relation to SEND, and SEND
related, services. It identifies priorities, actions to be taken, lines of responsibility and
timescales for delivery. The plan includes the detail of how the Tower Hamlets
SEND Strategy 2020 – 2024 will be delivered.
Work has been underway over the last few months to refresh the improvement plan
and this will continue as it is an iterative process. As part of this feedback will be
sought regularly to ensure that the views and contributions of a wide range of
stakeholders can help to strengthen the approach being taken. In particular work is
underway to strengthen and make more systematic the views of children, young
people and parents/carers, and the direct involvement of their representatives in
driving forward our improvement.
Recommendations:
The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to:
1. Provide feedback on the Tower Hamlets SEND Improvement Plan.
2. Determine the frequency with which the Health and Wellbeing Board
should receive progress reports on the delivery of the Improvement Plan
1.

REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS

1.1

There is no decision, this report is for information.

2.

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS

2.1

N/A

Page 51

3.

DETAILS OF THE REPORT

3.1

A range of activities have been taken place over the last few months to review
and revise the SEND Improvement Plan including workshops with senior
managers and with parents & carers and young people representatives. More
recently capacity has been constrained across all services, and in particular
health services, as the current wave of the pandemic has worsened, and staff
sickness or redeployment has become more of an issue.

3.2

The aim throughout has been to ensure that the plan is an effective tool to
drive improvement work. Work continues with strategic leads to refine and
sharpen the focus of the plan. Particular attention continues to be on
identifying the most pressing items for improvement, rationalising content to
avoid duplication and confirming actions are ‘SMART’ (specific, measurable,
achievable, relevant, and timely).

3.3

A set of priority areas for indicators have been identified, and these are
currently being reviewed by the SEND Improvement Board. These will help to
clarify the focus of attention for the improvement plan. The proposed
indicators are set out below with details of how the improvement plan
addresses them.

3.4

SEND Improvement Plan – key indicators and activities
Priority 1: Leading SEND
Key Indicator
 Routine Quality
Assurance (including on
EHCPs and Annual
Reviews)



Parental and Young
Person Engagement
(measures under
consideration include
number of co-production
projects, volume of
support for parents via
various channels and
evidenced responses to
feedback received).

SEND Improvement Plan Focus
 Ensure leaders know what is working
well and where remedial action is
required by implementing an effective
annual monitoring, evaluation, and
review cycle for the strategy.
 Work to include a refreshed strategic
performance and quality report and
establishment of a quality assurance
group.
 Parents and young people are active
partners in decision-making and service
development driving improvement
across the SEND system

Page 52

Priority 2: Early identification and assessment
Key Indicator
SEND Improvement Plan Focus
 Education, Health
 Pathways will be used to identify areas where
and Care Plan
processes need to improve so that
(EHCP) timeliness
assessment times can be reduced.
(with a focus on
 Work is underway to include reporting on the
remaining within the
marks that need to be hit by different
20-week statutory
agencies to achieve necessary timescales.
requirement)


Annual Review (AR)
Timeliness






Autism Spectrum
Disorder (ASD)
waiting times to
diagnosis and to
receiving a service





Completion of annual reviews will be logged,
monitored, and tracked.
A holistic approach is being considered to
measuring outcomes and satisfaction with the
AR process, based on best practice work
from another local authority.
Ensuring a collective understanding of the
immediate and long-term priorities/objectives
in the ASD pathway in supporting children
and families from pre-diagnosis through to
transition into adult services. All services to
have closer dependencies and join up in
meeting the agreed objectives.
To include delivery of ASD Improvement Plan
(focused on waiting times)

Priority 3: Commissioning effective services to respond to local needs
Key Indicator
SEND Improvement Plan Focus
 Access to Therapies  Development of a strategic, whole-system,
as and when
joined-up, needs-led and outcomes focused
required
approach to commissioning and delivering
children and young people therapy services
in Tower Hamlets.
 A cross organisational steering group has
been tasked with producing a commissioning
framework from April 2021.


Access to CAMHS
Support






Placement
Sufficiency (by need)



Unpicking waiting times within various parts
of the system, particularly from assessment
to receiving a service
Looking into the effectiveness of access via
different referral routes
Establishment of a quality and cost assured
placements framework for a range of SEND
placements.

Page 53

Priority 4: Good quality education provision for all children
Key Indicator
SEND Improvement Plan Focus
 Educational
 High quality professional development offer
Outcomes at each
to further build capacity in schools so that
Key Stage (annual
staff can translate expectations into practice.
measure, noting
 Restructure of the Support for Learning
there will be Covid 19
Service and Behaviour and Attendance
impact for 2020 and
Support Service to ensure compliance with
2021).
SEND Code of Practice requirements


Breadth and quality
of inclusivity within
schools



Development of an inclusion benchmarking
tool for mainstream schools which
recognises strengths and areas for
development.



Quality of specialist
provision



Expansion of special school and alternative
provision to ensure the borough has
appropriate and best value educational
provision for young people with SEND up to
the age of 25.

Priority 5: Supporting successful transitions and promoting
independence
Key Indicator
SEND Improvement Plan Focus
 Annual Reviews and
 Local agencies work in partnership to help
transition plans from
effectively plan for education transitions, so
age 14 (numbers
that needs are accurately reflected in EHCPs
completed and
and new settings are provided with the right
quality)
information.
 Transitions Strategic Group in place to lead
on this area of work.
 Post 16 destinations
 Tower Hamlets offers a variety of high
(by number and type)
quality sustainable post-16 work & education
options to meet the needs of all young
people with SEND
 There are clear pathways into training and
work experience and towards independent
adulthood and young people have the skills
to travel independently and safely.


Annual health checks
for young people with
SEND





Ensuring all young adults with SEND are
invited to attend their annual health check
with their GP and all those with complex
needs have an up-to-date healthcare plan.
The SEND Transitions Group is how
approach can be improved including use of
incentive scheme to increase referral
numbers to GPs from LA and subsequent
health checks.

Page 54

4.

EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

4.1

The SEND Improvement Plan is directly concerned with equalities and by
driving improvement work will improve outcomes for children and young
people with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities.

5.

OTHER STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS

5.1

This section of the report is used to highlight further specific statutory
implications that are either not covered in the main body of the report or are
required to be highlighted to ensure decision makers give them proper
consideration. Examples of other implications may be:
 Best Value Implications,
 Consultations,
 Environmental (including air quality),
 Risk Management,
 Crime Reduction,
 Safeguarding.
 Data Protection / Privacy Impact Assessment.

5.2

There are no further specific statutory implications art this stage.

6.

COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER

6.1

The report focuses primarily on service delivery and improvement. Costs and
funding of SEND are across the general fund and the high needs block of the
dedicated schools grant (DSG) as well as in collaboration with partner
agencies. Cost and funding implications would be considered as part of the
high needs recovery plan which will in turn be considered alongside this
improvement plan. There are no direct finance implications arising from the
recommendation in this report.

7.

COMMENTS OF LEGAL SERVICES

7.1

Part 3 of the Children and Families Act 2014 requires local authorities to
provide services to children and young people with special educational needs
and disabilities, and to keep the provision made for these children and young
people under review. The proposals set out in this report comply with the
above legislation.
____________________________________

Linked Reports, Appendices and Background Documents
Linked Report
 NONE
Appendices
 SEND Improvement Plan – To follow

Page 55

Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended)
List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report
List any background documents not already in the public domain including officer
contact information.
 These must be sent to Democratic Services with the report
 State NONE if none.
Officer contact details for documents:
Tracy Stanley, Strategy and Policy Officer, Children and Culture SPP,
Tel: 0207 364 3876

Page 56

SEND Improvement Plan - Overview
(February 2021)
Ref Key strategic activities

Timescale

Lead

Meeting - Sep 20 Meeting - Feb 21 Meeting - Apr 21

Meeting - Jun
21

Priority 1 - Leading SEND (James Thomas & Warwick Tomsett)
1.1 Increase public accountability by producing and sharing an annual report for 2020/21 Report

each year of the strategy.

1.2 Ensure leaders know what is working well and where remedial action is

required by implementing an effective annual monitoring, evaluation and
review cycle for the strategy.
1.3 Pressures across the local workforce which supports children and young

James Thomas,
Improvement Board Chair

due June 2021

Quarterly
James Thomas,
reporting in place Improvement Board Chair
for Q3
Annual Review

Catriona Hunt / John
O'Shea / Jenny Miller /
Julia Moody

people with SEND are well understood and effectively addressed to reduce
recruitment and capacity issues
1.4 Parents and young people are active partners in decision-making and

Annual Review

Jenny Miller, Manager SENDIASS / Sam Gager Independent Forum Chair

service development driving improvement across the SEND system

1.5 The Local Offer website consistently provides accurate, timely and

Annual Review

Jenny Miller, Manager SENDIASS

accessible information, which is regularly refreshed in response to feedback

1.6 Inclusion is actively promoted and championed through all partners'

AMBER

Agreed
Report
Structure

Draft Report

AMBER

Q3 Report

Q4 Report

Final
Report

RED

RED

Annual
Workforce
Report

AMBER

AMBER

Coproduction
programme

GREEN

GREEN

Develop
zone's on
website

RED

RED

Bi-Annual Review Ann Sutcliffe

services, including capital programmes

Priority 2 - Early Identification and Assessment (John O'Shea w. Pauline Hoare)
2.1 All developmental screening programmes, including the 2 and a half year
integrated reviews, are evaluated to ensure that coverage levels remain
high and this information is shared to plan future services

Apr-21 (COVID dependent)

Pauline Hoare
Kam Kaur

2.2 Audit of children in Nursery and Reception classes with previously
unidentified needs has been completed and learning used to develop
actions to improve early identification. Extend audit to children attending
childcare (through the IEYS Area Inclusion Team).

July-21 (COVID dependent)

Pauline Hoare Kam Kaur
(MEYWG)

2.3 Take up of early learning places for eligible 2 year olds returns to the
previous level and then continues to increase, ensuring that more children
can benefit from good or outstanding early years education

Termly

Pauline Hoare

2.4 There are clear pathways for a range of needs, prioritising speech and
language, autism and social, emotional and mental health needs

Ongoing work
• Pauline Hoare
resuming • Anthony Harris
deadlines to come • Diana Viscusi

2.5 Thresholds & criteria for categorising primary need are clear, supporting a
common understanding of different types of need across the local area

March 2021

2.6 The timeliness of EHC improves, with the majority of cases assessed within
20 weeks; contributions to plans from all services are timely

Feb-21

RED

AMBER

AMBER

AMBER

GREEN

AMBER

RED

AMBER

John O'Shea / James Dodd

AMBER

AMBER

John O'Shea / David
Onasanya

AMBER

RED

2.7 Ensure that EHCPs are of a high quality and meet the SEND Code of Practice December 2020
in all areas.
ongoing

John O'Shea / Stuart
Andrews / Anthony Harris,
SEND Working Group

AMBER

AMBER

2.8 Annual reviews are an effective tool for identifying changes in need and
ensuring the correct provision is in place

John O'Shea / David
Onasanya, SEND Working
Group

Apr-21

RED

AMBER

Priority 3 - Commissioning effective services to respond to local needs (Warwick Tomsett w. Anthony Harris)
3.1 Therapies: To develop a strategic, whole-system, joined-up, needs-led and

Apr-21

Michelle Williams/IT
Steering Group

outcomes focused approach to commissioning and delivering CYP therapy
services in TH.
LA/CCG
through
respective
willa need
to agree the
3.2 ASD
Pathway:
Alltheir
services
within governance
the pathwayroutes
to have
collective

Aug-21
understanding of the immediate and long term priorities/objectives in
supporting children and families from pre-diagnosis through to transition
into adult services. All services to have closer dependencies and join up in
meeting the agreed objectives.
3.3 Pooled Budgets: To make use of resurces across the system through aligned Jan-22
or pooled budgets where this leads to better integration and improved
outcomes.

Anthony Harris / DMO

3.4 Coproduction / Personal Centred Outcomes: Children, parents and families

Anthony Harris /
SENDIASS

-

GREEN

-

AMBER

-

GREEN

-

RED

-

RED

Warwick Tomsett

Jan-22
become an integral part of the commissioning process, as per the
commissioning cycle in the SEND CoP where partners are engaged in all
aspects of the process: understand/plan/do/review
3.5 Placements: To establish a quality and cost assured placements framework Sep-21
for a range of SEND placements.

Anthony Harris

Priority 4 - Good quality education provision for all children (Christine McInnes w. Monica Forty)

Page 57
1

Integrated
reviews
restart

CSA review

Develop a
Pilot the
training
use of the
programme Document
Report to
Report to
Board
Board

Report on
Annual
Reviews

Ref Key strategic activities

Timescale

Lead

4.1 Inclusive practice is routinely consistent across all mainstream schools,

Jul-22

SEND Inclusion Advisor /
Tracy Smith, Tower
Hamlets Education
Partnership

including the six nursery schools, particularly with regards to Sensory
Impairment, ASD and SEMH
4.2 Develop a high-quality professional development offer to further build

Jul-21

John O'Shea & Tracy
Smith, Tower Hamlets
Education Partnership

capacity in schools so that staff can translate this expectation into practice,
informed by evidence from schools about strengths and areas of need
4.3 There is clarity over the statutory, core and traded central services offer to

Sep-21

Ongoing

Feb-21

Sep-21

AMBER

RED

AMBER

-

AMBER

-

GREEN

-

AMBER

RED

AMBER

Christine McInnes

needs of children and young people in the borough

4.7 Tower Hamlets develops and offers a variety of high quality sustainable

-

Kay Goodacre

impact and effective investment

4.6 High-quality SEND resource base provision is relevant to and meets the

RED

Terry Bryan / John O'Shea

schools) across the borough to meet the needs of children and young people

4.5 Continue to support special school outreach work where it demonstrates

RED

Christine McInnes

schools

4.4 Ensure sufficiency of specialist SEND places (in mainstream and special

Meeting - Sep 20 Meeting - Feb 21 Meeting - Apr 21

Ongoing

Tina Sode

post-16 work & education options to meet the needs of all young people
with SEND (overlaps with priority 5)

Priority 5 - Supporting successful transitions and promoting independence (Richard Baldwin & Claudia Brown)
5.1 Local agencies work in partnership to help effectively plan for education

transitions, so that needs are accurately reflected in EHC plans and new
settings are provided with the right information
5.2 There are clear pathways into training and work experience and towards
independent adulthood, for young people with SEND from age 14

5.3 All young people able to learn the skills to travel independently and safely

are supported to do so
5.4 Local agencies work in partnership to help effectively plan for transitions

Progress to be
reviewed in April
2021
To be agreed and
signed off by April
2021

John O'Shea

To be reviewed
July 2021

Anthony Harris

Apr-21

Preparing for Adulthood Strategic Design and
Pathway Group

from Children's to Adult Services, so that needs are accurately reflected in
EHC plans and teams are provided with the right information

Claudia Brown /Richard
Baldwin, Preparing for
Adulthood Group

Page 58
2

RED

RED

AMBER

AMBER

AMBER

AMBER

RED

RED

Meeting - Jun
21

Key
Traffic light
RED

RAG Status definition
Action
There are significant issues with this area The matter should be escalated to the SEND
of work
Improvement Board and SEND Progress
Action is taken to resolve the problem or Group immediately
a decision made to watch the situation
The work requires corrective action to
meet our strategic objectives
The issue cannot be handled solely by the
system lead or relevant service area
One or more aspects of this item are at
risk of slipping. However, the deviation
from the plan is manageable and/or
unlikely to put any service users at risk
One or more aspects of this item have
slipped. The deviation from the plan is un
manageable and/or likely to put service
users at risk

AMBER

A problem has a negative effect on this
action, the system lead or relevant
service areas

The SEND Improvement Board should be
notified using a progress report or scheduled
briefing with the sponsor

Most aspects of this item are on track, or
close to being on track. However, there
might be some minimal delays
GREEN

This area of work is performing to plan

No action needed

Page 59

SEND Improvement Plan - Monitoring
Ref

Key strategic activities

Timescale

Interim actions

Lead

Meeting Sep 2020

Meeting - Commentary
Feb 2021

Priority 1 - Leading SEND (James Thomas & Warwick Tomsett)
1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

Page 60
1.5

•February 2021
•April 2021
•June 2021
•July 2021
Ensure leaders know what is working February 2021 June 2021
well and where remedial action is
required by implementing an effective
annual monitoring, evaluation and
review cycle for the strategy.

•Draft report structure
•Draft report
•Final report
•Conference
•Establish a data group
•Develop ‘top 10’ improvement dashboard
•Develop annual reporting cycle
•Develop action tracker
•Establish QA forum
•Take stock of current QA activity
•Outline quality requirements
•Produce quarterly data report

SEND
Improvement
Board

Pressures across the local workforce February 2021 June 2021
which supports children and young
people with SEND are well
understood and effectively addressed
to reduce recruitment and capacity
issues

•Complete a training needs analysis for the local SEND workforce
•Develop a professional development offer
•Deliver SEND training to local teams
•Deliver learning disability (awareness raising) training to all relevant multiagency services
•Assess the impact of training delivered
•Assess the take up of the professional development offer
•Develop a profile of the core SEND workforce, with strengths and pressures for
future recruitment identified

Catriona Hunt /
John O'Shea /
Jenny Miller /
Julia Moody

•Service users are represented on all key decision-making boards in the system
•Clarify interface between Improvement Board and service user groups
•Establish a Feedback Action Log
•Establish co-production programme for service users
•SEND Improvement Board receives regular reports from the Independent
Parent Forum
•SEND Improvement Board receives regular reports from Our Time Young
People’s Forum
•SEND Improvement Board is clear where the views of service users have
• Develop Young People's Zone
• Develop Professional's Zone

Jenny Miller /
Sam Gager

Increase public accountability by
producing and sharing an annual
report for each year of the strategy.

Parents and young people are active
partners in decision-making and
service development driving
improvement across the SEND
system

December 2020 June 2021

The Local Offer website consistently
provides accurate, timely and
accessible information, which is
regularly refreshed in response to
feedback

Ongoing

AMBER

Inclusion is actively promoted and
championed through all partners'
services, including capital
programmes

TBA

2019 report draft has been completed, it needs to be signed off and made available publicly. The 2020 report is
currently being developed. It will need to be an altered, shorter report as much work has been altered or delayed
by the necessary response to COVID-19.
The SEND Improvement Board is responsible for the monitoring of the Strategy and this strategic
implementation plan facilitates the monitoring activity. Forward planner maps out work to cover each priority into
2021. A new data group has been established and work is in train to focus on areas of weaker perforlmance as
informaed by quantitaive and qualitative data.

James Thomas

AMBER

RED

AMBER

AMBER

RED

AMBER

Jill McGinley /
Jenny Miller

GREEN

1.6

AMBER

GREEN

There isn't a comprehensive training plan, and a training needs analysis is required to get this area of work
underway. There is a broad training offer across the borough, including SEND specific training and CPD. TH
signed up to workforce development workshops from ADCS. Training has been arranged for Youth Justice team
(July 2020) and for the Early Help team (November 2020 + January 2021) - delivery by the Head of SEND and
the Head of SENDIASS. Learning Disability training is being organised for all relevant services - SEN, Social
Care (Children's and Adults) GPs and other Health Services - this will start with awareness raising sessions and
then look at ore detailed surveys to improve the transition from EHCP (for learning difficulties to Learning
Disabilities). SEND workforce pressures are acknowledged as a London-wide issue, but locally the recent SEND
roadshows have helped to raise the profile of the workforce.

Parents / young people are represented on the following groups: SEND Improvement Board, Born Well Growing
Well, Preparing for Adulthood Transitions Group, SEND Working Group, Children and Families Partnership
Board. Parent Forum Conference was cancelled due to COVID-19. During the lockdown Head of SEND, Head of
FIS and Head of SENDIASS meet remotely with the Chair of the Parents Independent Forum to discuss any
concerns and to look at moving forward from the Lockdown. A member of Our Time Youth Forum now attends
the SEND Improvement Board as a standing young persons' representatve, enabling the forum to have a
vehicle for expressing opinions on strategic SEND decisions and to raise issues and ideas for system
improvement. The representative is also a trained young person SEND Ambassador.
• A questionnaire and outreach programme with schools facilitated by Parent Ambassadors has taken place to
inform the review of the Local Offer.
• Parents and carers attending the Annual parent Conference, SENCO Conference and Transition Event have
also been consulted and participated in the review and development of the current website.
• The Advisory Group with parents and young people to meet this term to support the development of the Local
Offer
• The Send Ambassadors have raised awareness of the Local Offer during outreach and information sessions
and collected parent / carer views and feedback. A short paper based questionnaire has also been developed.
• On line questionnaire / form to be developed alongside the paper based document
• Parent, carer and young people feedback to be made available on the Local Offer website.
• The Local Offer steering group for parents and young people will meet during the spring term.

This area of work has not yet been sufficiently scoped out.

Ann Sutcliffe
RED

1

RED

SEND Improvement Plan - Monitoring
Ref Key strategic activities

Timescale

Interim actions

Lead

Meeting Sep 2020

Meeting - Commentary
Feb 2021

Priority 2 - Early Identification and Assessment (John O'Shea w. Pauline Hoare)
2.1 All developmental screening programmes, Apr-21 (COVID dependent)
including the 2 and a half year integrated
reviews, are evaluated to ensure that
coverage levels remain high and this
information is shared to plan future
services

• CCG and IEYS to review and report on screening by health Pauline
visitors and children centre staff
Hoare
• Refresh of cross service shared training to enhance
Kam Kaur
partnership working and relationships

2.2 Audit of children in Nursery and Reception July-21 (COVID classes with previously unidentified needs dependent)
has been completed and learning used to
develop actions to improve early
identification. Extend audit to children
attending childcare (through the IEYS Area
Inclusion Team).

• Present analysis to Board at July 2020 meeting (Public
Health)
• Identify / agree next steps to implement learning

2.3 Take up of early learning places for eligible Termly
2 year olds returns to the previous level
(64% 31.01.20) and then continues to
increase, ensuring that more children can
benefit from good or outstanding early
years education

• Review through the Childcare Sufficiency Assessment
(CSA) scorecard

2.4 There are clear pathways for a range of
needs, prioritising speech and language,
autism and social, emotional and mental
health needs.

Page 61
2.5 Thresholds & criteria for categorising
primary need are clear, supporting a
common understanding of different types
of need across the local area

2.6 The timeliness of EHC improves, with the
majority of cases assessed within 20
weeks; contributions to plans from all
services are timely

Build on previous audit, include any covid impact issues. The work on this was originally being led by PH and has
been delayed due to the pandemic. New timescales to be agreed for the steps to implement learning from the
audit. The timescales will be determined by the date lockdown is lifted. Schools will need to be fully open to all
children. The audit would normally be in October/November.
AMBER

AMBER

Pauline
Hoare

• Pauline
Hoare
• Anthony
Harris
• Diana
Viscusi

• December 2020
• January 2021
• February 2021
• June 2021
• March 2021

• Develop a SEND needs assessment framework/banding
document to clarify thresholds & criteria for categorising
primary need
• Publish to schools/SENCOs
• Run dedicated SENCO Forum to introduce the framework
• Pilot the use of the Document
• Develop a training programme for schools on identification
and support

John
O'Shea /
James
Dodd

• October 2020 February 2021

• Develop a recovery plan to clear the backlog of EHCPs
• Review all processes related to EHC Needs Assessment
with clear monitoring and tracking in place for all key
deadlines
• Development of Service dashboard, to include timeliness
of advices from all services
• Monthly reporting of EHCP performance reported to
BWGW
• Bimonthly reporting to SEND Improvement Board

John
O'Shea
David
Onasanya

• February 2021

AMBER

Pauline
Hoare Kam
Kaur
(MEYWG)

Ongoing work resuming - • Develop speech & language pathway based on PHE ELIM
deadlines to come
approach
• Develop ASD pathway
• Develop SEMH pathway
• Identify gaps in provision for each of the pathways
• Review processes for referral and assessment to reduce
waiting times
• Develop QA framework for each pathway

• February 2021

RED

GREEN

AMBER

RED

AMBER

Autumn 2020 - CSA Snapshot completed and distributed. Take up of childcare places has fallen to 42% during
the pandemic. IEYS Children's Centres in contact with the remaining 58% of families and are offering virtual
sessions, or 1:1 face to face where needed (by invitation). Closure of schools has impacted upon takeup of EL2
places. However, in terms of support from the council, all eligible families are accessing support through
children’s centres.

This work was delayed by the COVID-19 lockdown, however, SLCN criteria, universal and SEN Support for
Cognition and learning, and criteria for Hearing Impaired and Visually Impaired have been produced - SEMH
criteria and ASD criteria as well as Physical Disability is underway.
AMBER

AMBER

1

Discussions January 2021 (IEYS/CCG) - laying the groundwork for deepened and broadened shared service
delivery - to ensure partnership working in getting the screening programmes back up and better than pre-COVID
levels (using the COVID emergency as a springboard to delivery improvement). The timescales will be
determined by the date lockdown is lifted. For example, we will need to be in tier 3 before the integrated reviews
can recommence in the way described.

AMBER

RED

Due to a combination of long-term staff absence, creating staffing capacity issues and delays in responses to
requests for advice from some services, as well as the impact of the pandemic on key posts in the lockdown, the
completion rate for the 2020 calendar year was 7%. This is unsatisfactory. The full backlog of EHCP cases was
identified in September 2020 and a plan for clearing the backlog was put in place in October 2020. Additional
capacity within casework team was introduced in November 2020 and management capacity in January 2021.
Weekly tracking of EHCP completion in place to monitor the backlog of Plans – and is being reported fortnightly
to the SEND Progress Group. 30% of all plans in the back log have been finalised and issued and 25% have a
draft plan ready to be issued with parental agreement. This 25% will be cleared before the end of February. The
restructure of the SEN Service has restarted and will be completed in February 2020. Impact of this additional
capacity is being monitored to show progress on new assessments agreed since October. This should begin to
show in data in February 2020.
All processes and paperwork are being reviewed and a training programme for the casework team is being put in
place to ensure compliance at all steps.

Ref Key strategic activities

Timescale

2.7 Ensure that EHCPs are of a high quality
and meet the SEND Code of Practice in all
areas.

December 2020 ongoing • Develop EHCP Quality Assurance Framework
• Quality Assurance audit process for EHCP health input is
in place
• All services carry out QA processes according to agreed
criteria reporting into the SEND Working Group
• Learning from assessments that do not result in a plan

2.8 Annual reviews are an effective tool for
identifying changes in need and ensuring
the correct provision is in place

March 2021 - April 2021

Interim actions

• Review all processes and paperwork for carrying out
annual reviews
• Develop QA process for improving the quality, coproduction and compliance of ARs
• Report on AR’s completed to support Phase Transitions,
including Preparation for Adult Life outcomes.
• Develop Annual review reporting tool for Service
Dashboard

Lead

Meeting Sep 2020

SEND
Working
Group
John
O'Shea
Stuart
Andrews
Anthony
Harris
SEND
Working
Group
John
O'Shea
David
Onasanya

Page 62
2

AMBER

RED

Meeting - Commentary
Feb 2021

AMBER

AMBER

• Quality assurance work was delayed by the pandemic but the SEND Working Group resumed this work in the
Autumn 2020 school term. A range of exemplar QA tools were discussed and trialled. Terms of reference and
criteria for QA have been developed and agreed.
Health providers to develop audit plan as part of QA process at 3 levels:
Individual Services – Medicals, therapies and CAMHS (Nursing to follow in future once referrals commence)
Training and reporting to be considered in next steps.

• Logging process has begun to monitor and track the numbers of annual reviews being completed.
•Primary function of the SEND Working Group is to support the Education, Health and Care planning process by
establishing a quality assurance framework. The objective of the framework is to increase the quality of EHCPs,
support effective and meaningful annual reviews and aid planned transitions into adult services. SEND Working
group to pick up QA work as next step in their QA agenda.
• Review of the resource needed in SEND Service to quality assure (QA) ARs received from schools in order to
negate potential issues at all phase transfers, including the post-16 transition.
Year AR 9 co-production pilot impacted by pandemic – some training with SENCOs and review of proforma for
AR’s to include preparation for adulthood has happened.
Service dashboard to include data for AR's but will also need to develop a system for recording progress on
outcomes.

SEND Improvement Plan - Monitoring
Ref Key strategic activities

Timescale Interim actions

Lead

Meeting Sep 2020

Meeting - Commentary
Feb 2021

Priority 3 - Commissioning effective services to respond to local needs (Warwick Tomsett w. Anthony Harris)
3.1 Therapies: To develop a strategic, wholesystem, joined-up, needs-led and outcomes
focused approach to commissioning and
delivering CYP therapy services in TH.

01/04/2021

LA/CCG through their
respective governance
routes will need to agree the
integrated approach with the
framework.

Michelle
Williams/IT
Steering
Group

Cross organisational steering group has convened with reps from across CCG, Providers, LA, Schools and
parents/paretn reps.
Mapping of all existing therapies delviery across LBTH has been completed, gaps and needs analysis in progress
and benchmarking with geographical (WEL/NEL) has begun to understand LBTH position.

01/09/2021
-

GREEN

Steering group are tasked with producing a commissioning framework from 01/04/2021 that promotes and
provides the infrastrcutre to jointly commission therapies, with a driver to commission services where there will be
most imapct.
Upon compleition of the commissioning framework has been developed it will require giverance sign off and 'buy
in' from both LA and CCG, as well as schools.

01/08/2021

3.3 Pooled Budgets: To make use of resurces
across the system through aligned or pooled
budgets where this leads to better integration
and improved outcomes.

04/01/2022

3.4 Coproduction / Personal Centred
Outcomes: Children, parents and families
become an integral part of the commissioning
process, as per the commissioning cycle in
the SEND CoP where partners are engaged in
all aspects of the process:
understand/plan/do/review

04/01/2022

3.5 Placements: To establish a quality and cost
assured placements framework for a range of
SEND placements.

01/09/2021

Page 63

3.2 ASD Pathway: All services within the pathway
to have a collective understanding of the
immediate and long term priorities/objectives
in supporting children and famileis from prediagnosis through to transition into adult
services. All services to have closer
dependencies and join up in meeting the
agreed objectives.

Improvement Plan in place
for ASDAS waiting times,
although significant impact
through Covid.

Some aligned and polled
budgets already exist
through BCF and S75
agreements.

Anthony
Harris / DMO

Whilst there is a clear priority in regards to ASD diagnositic waiting times, there are a numebr of factors that need
further consideration both in regards to demand for the service, the support families can access whilst waiting for
a diagnosis, then the services provided if and when a diagnosis of ASD is confirmed.
-

AMBER

Warwick
Tomsett

A review of the BCF is underway as is a THT - led work to identify further opportunity for aligned and pooled
budgets. This will need to develop alongside the ICS developments across NEL and any new BCF guidance, and
also refelct priorities in the SEND commisisoning plan
-

The SEND Commissioning Anthony
Plan creates a structure
Harris /
whereby CYP and family
SENDIASS
engagement in built in the to
structure of the programme
of work. This ensures all
new commissioning of
SEND is aligned to an
existing CYP/Parent/Family
forum

The transition from Children's into Adult service needs to be effectively managed to ensure preparediness for
Childrern and families as they transition through to new services.

GREEN

The Review aspect of the commissioning cycle presents immediate challenges with long term solutions, both in
recognition that health outcomes are less tangible, and that current reporting conflict with some parents
experience of services.

-

RED

Anthony
Harris

The long term objective is to have a subset of the LBTH OBA framework focused on SEND outcomes, informed
by families that better capture the experiential outcomes of families interactions with
services/processes/pathways/organisations

Tower Hamlets does not have enough market influence to achieve this as a single local area, therefore joining an
existing framework, through an existing partnership is the preferred option, so long as it can be proven to be
effective in meeting the needs of LBTH CYP's to a greater degree than current practise.
-

RED

1

WLA have agreed to carry out a number of benchamrking exercises comparing ccost, quality and location of
LBTH placements in comparison to what members beenfits by leveraging the econominies of scale that can be
realised through regional commissioning arrangements.

SEND Improvement Plan - Monitoring
Ref Key strategic activities

Timescale Interim actions

Lead

Meeting Sep 2020

Meeting - Commentary
Feb 2021

Priority 4 - Good quality education provision for all children (Christine McInnes w. Monica Forty)
4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

Page 64

4.6

4.7

Inclusive practice is routinely consistent across all Jul-22
mainstream schools, including the six nursery
schools, particularly with regards to Sensory
Impairment, ASD and SEMH

• Develop a clear inclusion benchmarking tool for
mainstream schools, which recognises strengths and
areas for development
• Support schools to gain ‘autism aware’ accreditation

Develop a high-quality professional development
Jul-21
offer to further build capacity in schools so that
staff can translate this expectation into practice,
informed by evidence from schools about strengths
and areas of need

Statutory requirements, Ofsted requirements, needs
assessment & pupil place planning projects are all used to Tracy Smith,
inform training and development offer.
Tower Hamlets
Education
Partnership

There is clarity over the statutory, core and traded
central services offer to schools

• Complete restructure of the Support for Learning Service Christine McInnes
and SEND Service to ensure compliance with SEND Code
of Practice requirements

Sep-21

Ensure sufficiency of specialist SEND places (in
mainstream and special schools) across the
borough to meet the needs of children and young
people

Ongoing

Continue to support special school outreach work
where it demonstrates impact and effective
investment

Feb-21

High-quality SEND resource base provision is
relevant to and meets the needs of children and
young people in the borough

Sep-21

Tower Hamlets develops and offers a variety of
high quality sustainable post-16 work & education
options to meet the needs of all young people with
SEND (overlaps with priority 5)

Ongoing

SEND Inclusion
Advisor / Tracy
Smith, Tower
Hamlets
Education
Partnership
John O'Shea &

• Informed by needs analysis & future predictions work
with Mastadon C and JSNA, including triangulation /
analysis by SEND data working group

Terry Bryan /
John O'Shea

• Complete review of finances in Special Schools to
provide information on the current value for money.

Kay Goodacre

RED

THEP holds responsibility for the SENCO network and SEN training in schools. The SENCO training is up and
running. The training programme for other staff is currently under development.
-

RED

-

-

• Conduct Re-modelling of SEMH provision and outreach Christine McInnes
Plan provision for children with high functioning autism
Plan provision for girls with SEMH
Education and Partnerships develops closer working with
THEP Head of Secondary and Economic Development
division to publish the post-16 offer and identify gaps in
provision

RED

AMBER

AMBER

AMBER

GREEN

CD and DD have agreed a 12 month RESET programme with the Headteacher Consultative Chairs – which
incorporates clarifying statutory/discretionary/traded services; roles and responsibilities in respect of Finance, HR
and other support services; and more systematic feedback loops from all schools on the quality of services
provided, which will include SEND.
Expansion of Pheonix completed. Expansion of Beatrice Tate and London East Alterntive Provision planning well
underway. Creation of new primary ASD and SEMH resource bases agreed for opening Sept-2021. Mastadon-C
are being commissioned to refresh special school pupil projections.

Current arrangements for outreach in ASD has been expanded and in PMLD has been maintained. Re-modelling
of SEMH provision has been completed.

New Primary resource bases for ASD and SEMH due to open September 2021.
-

AMBER

Tina Sode

RED

1

Work on the benchmarking tool is completed and is being piloted in schools. A training programme on
implementation will be rolled out through THEP in the summer term. SENCO training has been integrated into the
THEP leadership training offer.

AMBER

The percentage of YP undertaking apprenticeships in Tower Hamlets is 2nd nationally at 4.5% of the cohort. 40
young people are undertaking an supported internship, that is 5.3% of the cohort, putting Tower Hamlets 14th
nationally. Limited placements / provision for level 1 and 2. Matching young people to placements can be
challenging, bad matches can result in poor attendance and new placement consultation being initiated. Service
is in talk with ‘South Quay to provide a broader vocational offer to address this issue. From September 2020 Post-19 College provision at the new Phoenix College. Post-16 SEMH provision with London East AP. Continuing
work with New City College Tower Hamlets to look at the post-16 needs and how they can best support these as
the local post-16 provider. Work with mainstream schools to develop/improve post-16 options for learners in
mainstream school settings.

SEND Improvement Plan - Monitoring
Ref Key strategic activities

Timescale Interim actions

Lead

Meeting Sep 2020

Meeting - Commentary
Feb 2021

Priority 5 - Supporting successful transitions and promoting independence (Richard Baldwin & Claudia Brown)
5.1

5.2

Local agencies work in partnership to help
Progress to • Convene 'Strategic Design and Pathway Group' Claudia Brown /
effectively plan for education transitions, so that
be reviewed to consider and recommend a model / structure to Richard Baldwin
needs are accurately reflected in EHC plans and
in April 2021 effectively manage transitions in Tower Hamlets.
new settings are provided with the right information
Primary schools are provided with the right
Ongoing information to support children as they start school Statutory

requirement

5.3

Secondary schools are provided with the right
Ongoing information to support children as they start school Statutory

requirement

• Review process of Reception transition to ensure Pauline Hoare
that systems are in place to meet deadlines in
relation to annual reviews and applications to
Reception.
• Learning from EY SEND audit implemented

RED

AMBER

-

AMBER

• Review process of Reception transition to ensure For EHCPs that systems are in place to meet deadlines in
SEND Team /
relation to annual reviews and applications.
John O'Shea
For SEN Support
- Headteachers
-

5.4

5.5

Page 65
5.6

5.7

5.8

5.9

Post-16 settings are provided with the right
information to support children as they start
education programmes

Sep-21

Young people, parents and carers are routinely
consulted about the support and advice they need
from Year 9, as they prepare for their child
becoming an adult

Apr-21

Need to firmly establish systems that are signed
off by Schools and Colleges and Council that
provides updates and link to Annula review
process.
Strengthen the pathways and processes so that
parents are routinely involved in annula review
process and that their contributions are recorded
accurately in both the EHCP plan and the annual
review at Year 9

There are clear pathways into training and work
To be agreed • Local Offer website offers clear information for
parents and carers about training opportunities
experience and towards independent adulthood, for and signed
and resources available for young people with
young people with SEND from age 14
off by April
SEND (from 14-25 years old)

John O'Shea,
Preparing for
Adulthood Group

RED

-

RED

-

Preparing for
Adulthood Group

Uptake of independent travel training is increased

To be
reviewed
July 2021

Review current systems for carrying out
Apr-21
assessments for adult health and social care
services to ensure these take place early enough
and are linked to the young person’s ambitions and
outcomes as set out in their EHC plan

5.10. Ensure all young adults with SEND are invited to
attend their annual health check with their GP and
all those with complex needs have an up-to-date
healthcare plan

Jul-21

• Travel Assistance Plan approved by Cabinet and Anthony Harris
implemented

Plan being developed to increase effectiveness of
travel plans,and to review progress of plans to
reduce drift.
Work within the Transitions Group has been
undertaken to review these pathways and
changes have been made to strengthen over-sight
and simplify processes.

AMBER

Cabinet appproval of Travel Assistance Plan expected Oct 2020
AMBER

GREEN

-

AMBER

-

AMBER

Progress in regard to this action is reviewed by the SEND Progress
SEND Progress group aspart of inspection
Group / Tanja
preparation.
Satterwhaite /
Julia Moody

• Convene 'Strategic Design and Pathway Group' Preparing for
to consider and recommend a model / structure to Adulthood effectively manage transitions in Tower Hamlets. Strategic Design
and Pathway
Group

Monitoring and updating of plans will be routinely undertaken by the team supervisior to review progress and where appropriate support reduced
so that new work can be allocated.

The new pathways have been reviewed and approved by the Transitions Group. These will be reviewed in March 2021

-

5.11 Local agencies work in partnership to help
Apr-21
effectively plan for transitions from Children's to
Adult Services, so that needs are accurately
reflected in EHC plans and teams are provided with
the right information

•14-25 Team conducting annual review pilot from year 9 focussing on preparing for adulthood and part of this work will be to ensure that
information for colleges is as accurate as possible.
•Many YP with EHC plans are enrolled at New City College – monthly meetings are being explored to ensure that the right support is in place.

information was reviewed and updated on LO in May 2019.
Providers contacted to ensure data is accurate. Requests for more information on PfA strategy group and Young Workpath made Sept, followed
up Oct. Information will be uploaded as soon as received. The new YP zone agreed work will be completed by December 2019 and as requested
by YP there will be more information on training, courses, apprenticeships and internships.

Anthony Harris

Preparing for
Adulthood Strategic Design
and Pathway
Group

• Guidelines on the process for transfer of children with EHCPs from primary to secondary school have been produced. Year 5 pilot being
undertaken with schools.
• The process of Reception transition is being reviewed to ensure that systems are in place to meet deadlines in relation to annual reviews and
applications.
• Secondary Headteachers consultative have asked to work jointly with SEN Service to look at the increasing numbers moving from Y6 to Y7 and
to ensure all schools are viable options for parents at transition.
• There have been 3 remote Y5 transitions meetings for parents where messaging has been to ensure visits to schools in September and to make
choices based on criteria other than just the Ofsted report.

AMBER

AMBER

To be
reviewed
July 2021

• EY SEND audit conducted in response to concerns raised by schools about a cohort of children entering statutory education provision in
Reception with a range of previously unidentified needs. Analysis now completed by Public Health. This was last presented at the July 2020 Board
meeting.
• Additional 3-4 year universal review planned to identify children whose needs may have changed over time. It will help to reduce numbers of
children starting school with unidentified and unmet needs.

• An Annual review co-production pilot with year 9 pupils has begun and will engage key partners at an early stage.

Claudia Brown /
Richard Baldwin

2021

All young people able to learn the skills to travel
independently and safely are supported to do so

Transitions strategic group is now meeting - new meetings for 2020-21 are scheduled. Work is being undertaken to look at the transition to adult
services for young people with learning disabilities. Group is co-chaired by Divisional Directors for Children's and Adult's Social Care. It is focused
upon Children to Adult transition, but also looks at transitions between the Council and Health.

RED

RED

AMBER

1

Numbers of young people on GP LD register from age 14+ is still very low and needs joint approach with education to improve
Process starts at year 9 annual review. Work to explore how the current approach can be improved is being explored as part of SEND Transitions
Discussion group Activity. Liaising with LBTH CCG to find out what their approach is. • In September 2018 the number of 14-17 year olds on GP
register for learning disabilities was 56. As at August 2019, this figure had increased to 100.
• Next Steps - Build on current incentive scheme to increase referral numbers to GPs from LA and subsequent health checks.
DMO will discuss with SEND team (John and Dan) how can we ensure that GPs get EHCPs (I am copying them in the email). We (Specialist
Children's Services) are getting the final EHCPs now and they should be uploaded on Emis but not sure if GPs can access them.
James, our newly appointed DCO will be working on setting up coding on Emis using BACD diagnostic list so this should be accessible to GPs as
well?
if we start thinking about the training for GPs to cover LD and SEND, we should be able to move things forward.
• There is more work to be done on ensuring that pathways and criteria are well understood by services users and professionals. The SEND
transitions Discussions group is bringing together key practitioners and officers from across the local area (including CSC, ASC, NHS and CCG) to
identify work ongoing and planned to to clarify pathways. A One Minute Guide to the transition between CSC and ASC is being produced.
• Transition into adult social care has been identified as presenting a challenge for young people with ASD who do not meet thresholds for the
Community Learning Disabilities Service (CLDS). Where CAMHS carry out ASD assessment for children and young people with comorbid mental

Ref Key strategic activities

Timescale Interim actions

5.12 There is a clear, shared understanding of the
pathway into supported and independent living for
19-24 year olds with EHC plans in place

Apr-21

Provisional pathway and resource packs shared
with Transitional Group,and approved.

Lead

Meeting Sep 2020

Meeting - Commentary
Feb 2021

Preparing for
Adulthood Group
/ Mary Marcus

-

GREEN

Page 66
2

• CLDS Resource pack developed.
• CLDS has locally commissioned supported living schemes
• CLDS is running a ‘Supporting Independence’ project which supports individuals to become more independent. 38 young people have been
identified for this project and the CLDS are undertaking an in-depth ‘Progression Model’ assessment.
• CLDS is developing a ‘Shared Lives Scheme’ and exploring general housing options available to younger people.
• Reduce number of young people placed outside the borough as part of the supporting independence project and service transformation agenda.
• CLDS to better understand accommodation and support needs of all clients and use this intelligence to better inform commissioning.
• CLDS to move away from residential care model and explore grouping young people in supported housing with floating support, to promote
development of independent living skills
• Cultural factors amongst families identified as a barrier for some young people to independent living and progression to employment. Parents and
young people to be engaged via schools / SENCos at an earlier stage (year 9 annual review) to prompt discussions, identify reservations and
publicise offer, as well as scope for bespoke arrangements
• CLDS – development of shared lives scheme – in progress
• CLDS to develop dialogue around local provision for young people in education and reduce need to use out of borough placements

